
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
: CRIMINAL NO. 17-631

v. :
: CIVIL NO. 19-3105

TROY REESE :

MEMORANDUM

SURRICK, J. APRIL 10, 2020

Presently before the Court is Petitioner’s pro se Motion to Vacate/Set/Aside/Correct 

Sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (ECF No. 65) and the Government’s response thereto (ECF 

No. 67). For the following reasons, Petitioner’s Motion will be denied.

BACKGROUND

Petitioner Troy Reese used Craigslist in an attempt to engage in sexual conduct with a 

girl he believed was 13 years old. He was 32 years old at the time.  Law enforcement, posing as 

the 13-year-old girl in various online communications with Petitioner, eventually arrested him. 

On November 29, 2018, pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(C), 

Petitioner entered a plea of guilty to the one-count Superseding Information charging him with 

interstate travel with the intent to engage in illicit sexual conduct, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

2423(b).  (Plea Agreement, ECF No. 49.)1 In his written guilty plea agreement, Petitioner agreed 

1 On December 7, 2017, the Government filed a one-count Indictment charging Petitioner 
with child enticement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b). (Indictment, ECF No. 1.) A violation 
of § 2422(b) is punishable by imprisonment for a mandatory minimum period of ten years up to 
a lifetime in prison, followed by a mandatory minimum period of supervised release of five years 
up to a lifetime of supervised release.  On November 20, 2018, the Government filed a 
Superseding Information charging Petitioner with one count of interstate travel for the purpose of 
engaging in sexual conduct in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2423(b). (Superseding Information, ECF 
No. 47.)  This crime is punishable by a period of imprisonment of up to 30 years to be followed 
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to a sentence within the guideline range of 70 to 87 months’ imprisonment, to be followed by a

ten-year term of supervised release and a special assessment of $5,100.00.  (Id. ¶¶ 4, 9.)  

Petitioner also agreed that if the Court accepted the plea and imposed a sentence within the 70-

to 87-month range, he would “voluntarily and expressly waive[] all rights to appeal or 

collaterally attack the conviction, sentence, or any other matter relating to this prosecution, 

whether such a right to appeal or collateral attack arises under 18 U.S.C. § 3742, 28 U.S.C. § 

1291, 28 U.S.C. § 2255, or any other provision of law.”  (Id. ¶ 16.) Petitioner retained the right

to assert ineffective assistance of counsel.  (Id.)  The Plea Agreement also provided that if the 

Court accepted the plea, the one count Indictment would be dismissed.  (Id. ¶ 2.)

Petitioner signed the plea agreement. Above his signature was an acknowledgment that 

he and his attorney “fully discussed [the] plea agreement” and that he was “satisfied with the 

legal representation provided by [his] lawyer.” (Id. ¶ 21.)  Petitioner contemporaneously signed 

an “Acknowledgment of Rights” form indicating that he understood that he was giving up 

various rights by pleading guilty.  (See id., Attachment.)

On November 29, 2018, the Court conducted a guilty plea colloquy.  (Nov. 29, 2018 

Change of Plea Hr’g Tr. (“Tr.”), ECF No. 68.)  During the colloquy, Petitioner stated under oath 

that he had discussed his plea agreement with his attorney and that he was satisfied with his 

attorney’s legal representation.  (Id. at 4, 14.)  He also stated that he had no questions about the 

crime to which he was pleading guilty or the punishment that could be imposed, which included 

a jail sentence of up to 30 years.  (Id. at 6-8.)  He stated that he understood that he had a right to 

a jury trial.  (Id. at 9-10.)  He confirmed that he discussed the sentencing guidelines with his 

by a mandatory minimum period of supervised release of five years up to a lifetime of supervised 
release and a special assessment of $5,100.00.  (See Plea Agreement ¶ 3.)
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attorney and that he understood that the Court would impose a sentence of incarceration within 

the guideline range of 70 to 87 months if the Court accepted the plea.  (Id. at 11-12.) He also 

stated that he discussed the waiver of his appellate rights with his attorney and that he understood

that he was waiving some of those rights.  (Id. at 13.)  He confirmed his understanding that the 

issues that he could raise on appeal would be limited and included:  sentencing in excess of any 

applicable statutory maximum; improper upward departure from the sentencing guidelines;

improper upward variance from the sentencing guidelines; and ineffective assistance of counsel.  

(Id. at 13-14.)  Petitioner also stated that he went over the plea agreement with his attorney line-

by-line, understood each and every line of the document, and signed it of his own free will.  (Id.

at 14-15.)

During the colloquy, Petitioner also agreed that the Government could prove certain facts 

if the parties proceeded to trial, including that the undercover law enforcement officer posing as 

a 13-year-old girl “specifically represented himself to be a thirteen-year-old girl, and [Petitioner]

acknowledged her age by stating that the Craigslist platform is supposed to [be] ‘eighteen and 

up’.  Nevertheless, [Petitioner] continued to engage in this [communication] with [a person] 

whom he thought was a thirteen-year-old girl.”  (Id. at 16-18.)  Petitioner also admitted to 

sending a text to the person whom he thought was a 13-year-old girl.  The text stated in relevant 

part that in connection with the potential sexual encounter, “[i]f you do have a child, you cannot 

say it’s from me.  I will see the child when you are sixteen….”  (Id. at 18, 20 (emphasis added).)

This text is another indication that Petitioner believed the victim was a minor and, more 

specifically, under 16 years old.  During the colloquy, Petitioner also confirmed that he 

“provided a post-Miranda written statement admitting to talking to a person he believed was a 

thirteen-year-old female with the intent to have sex with her.”  (Id. at 19.)  
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Petitioner admitted these facts during the colloquy, but then told the Court that he truly 

did not believe the girl was thirteen-years-old, especially because he was using the “casual 

encounter” section on Craigslist, which was supposed to be for adults only.  (Id. at 20-21.)  He 

also claimed that he was just “playing around.”  (Id. at 21-22.)  After Petitioner made these 

statements, the following encounter ensued between the government attorney and Petitioner:

[Government]:  I would just ask, given what [Petitioner] has said, it’s a fairly simple 
question, and if the answer is no, the Government will proceed to trial.  The question 
is:  When [Petitioner] traveled from New Jersey to Pennsylvania, did [he] intend to 
meet up with a thirteen-year-old and have sex with her? 

[Petitioner]:  Yes.

(Id. at 22.) 

From December 12, 2017 to March 22, 2019, Petitioner was represented by Assistant 

Federal Defender Rossman Thompson, Esq. (“Thompson”).  (See ECF Nos. 8 & 56.)  Thompson 

represented Petitioner in connection with the entry of his guilty plea.  However, because a

conflict of interest developed, Thompson sought and was granted permission to withdraw as 

Petitioner’s counsel.  (See ECF Nos. 53 & 56.)  Attorney William J. Brennan, Esq. (“Brennan”), 

a member of this Court’s CJA panel, was appointed to replace Thompson, beginning on March 

22, 2019.  (See ECF No. 56.) Brennan represented Petitioner in connection with his sentencing.

In its sentencing memorandum, the Government asserted that Petitioner’s offense level 

was 27 and that his criminal history category was I, resulting in a guideline range of 70-87

months, consistent with the plea agreement.  The Government asserted that there was no reason 

to deviate from that sentencing range.  (See ECF No. 59.)  In Petitioner’s sentencing 

memorandum, which was prepared by Brennan, Petitioner noted that he did not object to the 

Government’s offense level computation, criminal offense history calculation, or the guideline 

Case 2:17-cr-00631-RBS   Document 69   Filed 04/10/20   Page 4 of 15



5

range determination.  He did, however, assert that Petitioner’s remorse and mental health issues 

justified a sentence at the bottom of the guideline range.  (See ECF No. 60.)

On June 14, 2019, in accordance with the plea agreement, Petitioner was sentenced to 72 

months’ imprisonment and ten years of supervised release.  (Judgment, ECF No. 64.)2 One 

month later, he filed this pro se Motion, asserting: (1) ineffective assistance of counsel, because 

Thompson “withheld exculpatory evidence” and failed to recognize that Petitioner’s offense 

level should have been 24, rather than 27; (2) “entrapment” or “conspiracy,” based on the notion 

that “only in America” is “catfishing” by law enforcement legal in the context of Craigslist sex 

ads; (3) lack of federal jurisdiction over this matter, in that the federal government has “no 

authority to take control of the internet”; (4) “blind justice,” meaning that the judicial system 

“is designed to favor the politicians and people who are wealthy”; (5) unconstitutional denial of 

bond; (6) unconstitutional prison conditions, in violation of the Eighth Amendment; (7) failure 

by the Court to depart downward from the sentencing guidelines range based on Petitioner’s 

mental and emotional status and diminished capacity; and (8) failure by the Government to 

accept information offered by Petitioner related to other criminal activity, which prevented

Petitioner from receiving a downward departure based on substantial assistance under U.S.S.G. § 

5K1.1. (ECF No. 65.) On August 12, 2019, the Government filed its Response to Petitioner’s 

Motion.  (ECF No. 67.)  Petitioner is presently serving his 72-month sentence.  (See Judgment.)

DISCUSSION

A prisoner in custody under sentence of a federal court may “move the court which 

imposed the sentence to vacate, set aside or correct the sentence” “upon the ground that the 

sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States, or that the 

2 Petitioner did not file a direct appeal of his conviction or sentence in the Third Circuit.
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court was without jurisdiction to impose such sentence, or that the sentence was in excess of the 

maximum authorized by law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack.”  28 U.S.C. § 2255(a).  

A criminal defendant may waive his right to challenge a sentence under § 2255. See United 

States v. Mabry, 536 F.3d 231, 237 (3d Cir. 2008), abrogated in part on other grounds by Garza 

v. Idaho, 139 S. Ct. 738 (2019).  Jurisdictional defenses, however, are not subject to waiver by 

way of a guilty plea.  See Washington v. Sobina, 475 F.3d 162, 165 (3d Cir. 2007) (recognizing 

that “[i]t is well established that a criminal defendant’s unconditional, knowing and voluntary 

plea of guilty waives all non-jurisdictional issues” (emphasis added)); Woodward v. United 

States, 426 F.2d 959, 964 (3d Cir. 1970) (recognizing that “[a] plea of guilty waives all non-

jurisdictional defenses, whether these defenses be later raised in a § 2255 petition or a Rule 

32(d) motion” (emphasis added)).  

We first address the merits of Petitioner’s jurisdictional argument, and then turn to 

Petitioner’s non-jurisdictional arguments.3

A. The Court Has Jurisdiction over This Matter

Petitioner asserts that we lack jurisdiction over this matter because the federal 

government has no authority to “take control of the internet.” This assertion is frivolous. First, §

2423(b) “fall[s] squarely within Congress’s power” to regulate the “channels and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce.” United States v. Tykarsky, 446 F.3d 458, 470 (3d Cir. 

2006) (citing United States v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549, 558-59 (1995)). Second, Petitioner did not 

3 We note that “[a] pro se pleading is held to less stringent standards than more formal 
pleadings drafted by lawyers.”  Santana Ferguson v. United States, No. 13-845, 2016 WL 
6126926, at *3 (D.N.J. Oct. 18, 2016) (citing Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 106 (1976)).  “A 
pro se habeas petition and any supporting submissions must be construed liberally and with a 
measure of tolerance.”  Id. (collecting cases).
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plead guilty to unlawful use of the internet.  He entered a plea of guilty to travelling with intent 

to engage in illicit sexual conduct, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2423(b).  Count One of the 

Superseding Information, to which Petitioner entered his plea, alleges that Petitioner traveled or 

attempted to travel from Sicklerville, New Jersey to Conshohocken, Pennsylvania for the 

purpose of engaging in illicit sexual conduct with someone he believed to be a minor.  (See 

Superseding Information, ECF No. 47.)4 Interstate commerce is the jurisdictional basis for 

Petitioner’s crime, and Petitioner does not, nor could he, contend that he was insufficiently 

involved in interstate commerce to trigger jurisdiction under § 2423(b).  See United States v. 

Han, 66 F. Supp. 2d 362, 365 (N.D.N.Y. 1999) (finding that government could establish 

interstate commerce element of § 2423(b) beyond a reasonable doubt where defendant traveled 

by car from his home in Edison, New Jersey to Binghamton, New York, to meet individual he 

thought was a 13-year-old girl).

B. Petitioner’s Non-Jurisdictional Arguments 

We now consider whether and to what extent Petitioner has waived his right to assert 

non-jurisdictional challenges to his sentence under § 2255. We may enforce such a waiver if it is 

“entered into knowingly and voluntarily and [] enforcement does not work a miscarriage of 

justice.” Mabry, 536 F.3d at 237. To determine if a waiver was knowing and voluntary, we 

must review the plea colloquy and the terms of the plea agreement.  Id. at 238.  In Mabry, the 

Third Circuit found the subject plea agreement indicative of a knowing and voluntary waiver 

where the waiver was broad, did not allow for exceptions, and applied to direct appeal and 

4 At the plea colloquy, Petitioner confirmed his understanding that in connection with his
plea, the parties agreed that the original Indictment would be dismissed, and that Petitioner 
would “plead guilty to Count One of a Superseding Information, waiving prosecution by 
indictment.”  (Plea Agreement ¶ 1; Tr. at 2-6, 12.)
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collateral attack. See id. There, defense counsel explained the waiver to the defendant and 

defendant signed the agreement, thus acknowledging his understanding of the terms.  See id. For 

several reasons, the Third Circuit reached the same conclusion with respect to the Mabry plea 

colloquy.  First, the trial court “inform[ed] the defendant of, and determine[d] that the defendant 

underst[ood] … the terms of any plea-agreement provision waiving the right to appeal or to 

collaterally attack the sentence,” in accordance with Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 

11(b)(1)(N).  See id. at 238-39.  Second, before the trial court accepted the plea agreement, it 

confirmed that the defendant “had not been coerced or misled in any way into entering into the 

agreement.”  Id. at 239.  Moreover, the trial court “explained the waiver at some length,” the 

defendant “responded directly to the court’s questions, the prosecution reviewed the waiver with 

the defendant in open court, and defense counsel was permitted to explain [it] further.”  Id.

Here, the plea agreement and colloquy exhibit all the characteristics that the court in 

Mabry found indicative of a knowing and voluntary waiver.  Most importantly, the plea 

agreement clearly explained the appellate and collateral attack waivers, Petitioner had an 

opportunity to discuss the terms of his plea agreement, including the waiver provisions, with his 

attorney, and the Court engaged in an extensive and substantive dialogue with Petitioner, during 

which Petitioner confirmed his understanding and agreement to the various waiver terms.  Under 

the circumstances, it is clear that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to assert 

non-jurisdictional challenges to his sentence under § 2255.

With regard to Mabry’s “miscarriage of justice” prong, the Third Circuit has “adopted a 

common sense approach in determining whether a miscarriage of justice would occur if the 

waiver were enforced.” Mabry, 536 F.3d at 242.  The Third Circuit has “declined to identify a 

list of specific circumstances which would give rise to, or constitute, a miscarriage of justice,” 
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but it considers several factors when making this determination, such as “‘the clarity of the error, 

its gravity, its character (e.g., whether it concerns a fact issue, a sentencing guideline, or a 

statutory maximum), the impact of the error on the defendant, the impact of correcting the error 

on the government, and the extent to which the defendant acquiesced in the result.’”  Id. at 242-

43 (quoting United States v. Teeter, 257 F.3d 14, 25-26 (1st Cir. 2001)). “Courts apply the 

‘miscarriage of justice’ exception ‘sparingly and without undue generosity.’”  United States v. 

Castro, 704 F.3d 125, 136 (3d Cir. 2013) (quoting United States v. Wilson, 429 F.3d 455, 458 

(3d Cir. 2005)). We now apply these principles to the matter before us.

1. With the Exception of His Claim of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, 
Petitioner Has Waived His Non-Jurisdictional Arguments

Several of the arguments advanced by Petitioner are not the proper subject of a § 2255 

motion.  These include Petitioner’s assertions of entrapment, improper denial of bond, and 

inadequate prison conditions.  See Evans v. United States, 408 F.2d 369, 370 (7th Cir. 1969) 

(collecting cases) (recognizing that “courts have been practically unanimous in holding the 

defense of entrapment cannot be used by collateral attack under 28 U.S.C. § 2255”); United 

States v. Koptik, 300 F.2d 19, 23 (7th Cir. 1962) (“The manner in which defendant may have 

been treated by prison officials after his plea of guilty does not afford a basis for relief under 

section 2255.”); United States v. Dao, 09-48, 2017 WL 6813129, at *1 (D. Minn. Apr. 3, 2017) 

(rejecting “conditions-of-confinement claims as having been brought improperly under § 2255”

since “§ 2255 allows a petitioner to challenge the validity of a sentence itself, not the legality of 

how that sentence is carried out” (internal quotations omitted)); United States v. Scruggs, No. 07-

192, 2011 WL 1832769, at *12 (N.D. Miss. May 13, 2011) (holding that “[t]he defense of 

entrapment … must be raised at trial and may not be raised by collateral attack under a motion 

filed pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 2255”); United States v. Underwood, 440 F. Supp. 499, 504 
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(D.R.I. 1977) (refusing to “afford relief through § 2255 after the fact” where petitioner 

contended that “his attorney was ineffective in obtaining bail pending his trial”); United States v. 

Daniels, 191 F. Supp. 129, 131 (E.D. Pa. 1961) (holding that “defense of entrapment is not 

available on motion to collaterally attack a judgment”); cf. Graves v. United States, 878 F. Supp. 

409, 412 (N.D.N.Y. 1995) (noting that it is “well recognized that errors regarding excessive bail 

are ‘not cognizable in a section 2255 action’” (quoting Kett v. United States, 722 F.2d 687, 690 

(11th Cir. 1985))), aff’d, 89 F.3d 826, 1995 WL 767118 (2d Cir. 1995).  We reject Petitioner’s 

arguments on these issues.  We also reject as frivolous Petitioner’s assertion that the justice 

system is inherently unfair to those who are not politically connected or wealthy.

With regard to whether Petitioner’s mental health condition warranted a reduced 

sentence, that, too, is not a legitimate basis for relief.  While “the mental competency of the 

accused to enter an intelligent plea of guilty is available as a ground of collateral attack,” see

United States v. McNicholas, 298 F.2d 914, 916 (4th Cir. 1962), a district court’s refusal to 

award a downward variance or departure from a within-guideline sentence, for any reason, 

mental health or otherwise, is generally not a legitimate ground for modification under § 2255.

See United States v. Moody, 144 F.3d 50, 1998 WL 244882 (5th Cir. 1998) (holding that 

petitioner’s “argument that the district court improperly applied the Sentencing Guidelines and 

refused to grant the motion for a downward departure under U.S.S.G. § 5K1.1 does not give rise 

to a constitutional issue cognizable in a § 2255 proceeding”).  As the Third Circuit has 

recognized, a “within-Guidelines sentence is reasonable,” and “[b]ecause such a sentence is 

presumptively reasonable … it is logically inconceivable that such a sentence could constitute a 

miscarriage of justice.”  United States v. Phi Xin, 451 F. App’x 115, 119 (3d Cir. 2011) (citing 

United States v. Jackson, 523 F.3d 234, 234-44 (3d Cir. 2008)); see also United States v. 
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Springs, 988 F.2d 746, 747 (7th Cir. 1993) (holding that a “sentence within the Guidelines … 

cannot be a ‘complete miscarriage of justice.’”).  Our analysis on this point applies equally to 

Petitioner’s claim that the Government wrongfully refused to accept his assistance on unrelated 

criminal activity, thus depriving him of an opportunity for a sentence reduction under U.S.S.G. § 

5K1.1.  Again, Petitioner’s within-guideline sentence was presumptively reasonable.  Moreover,

Petitioner did not “inform the Court of such attempted assistance” and the plea agreement “did 

not contemplate the government filing a § 5K1.1 motion or otherwise recommending a sentence 

lower than the one [he] received[,] and [he] has not alleged that the government made any other 

assurances with respect to [his] sentencing.”  See Smith v. United States, 379 F. Supp. 2d 102, 

103 (D. Mass. 2005). Finally, and most importantly, there was a guilty plea pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(1)(C).  The plea agreement provided for a sentence within a 

fixed guideline range.  The Court accepted that plea and Petitioner was sentenced within that 

range.

2. Petitioner’s Ineffective Assistance Claim

In United States v. Shedrick, 493 F.3d 292, 298 (3d Cir. 2007), the Third Circuit held that 

“[e]nforcing a collateral-attack waiver where constitutionally deficient lawyering prevent[s] [a 

petitioner] from understanding his plea … would result in a miscarriage of justice.” Here, 

Petitioner asserts that his attorney “withheld exculpatory evidence,” and that his offense level 

should have been 24, thus suggesting that his attorney erred by agreeing to an offense level of 

27.  (See Def. Br., ECF No. 65.)  Although Petitioner does not assert that his attorney’s 

ineffective assistance prevented him from understanding the nature of his plea agreement, 

Shedrick appears to have left open the possibility that ineffective assistance of counsel could 

result in a miscarriage of justice in other contexts as well.  See 493 F.3d at 298 n.6; see also 
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Melter v. United States, No. 13-12, 2016 WL 7163591, at *10 (W.D. Pa. Dec. 7, 2016) 

(considering on § 2255 motion petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance alleging that counsel 

“advised Petitioner to accept a plea deal when they had failed to file a motion for discovery or 

otherwise attempt to secure discovery from the Government … [and] they had failed to conduct 

any pretrial investigation or discovery”); Ramirez v. United States, No. 11-719, 2013 WL 

359299, at *3 (S.D. Ill. Jan. 30, 2013) (considering on § 2255 motion petitioner’s claim of 

ineffective assistance “alleging that counsel unreasonably failed to object to his Guideline 

classification as a career offender”).  Moreover, when Petitioner entered his guilty plea, he 

specifically retained his right to assert ineffective assistance of counsel.  Accordingly, we 

consider the merits of Petitioner’s ineffective assistance claim.

To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must “prove that 

counsel’s performance ‘fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,’ and that ‘there is a 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding 

would have been different.’”  Id. at 299 (internal citation omitted) (quoting Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 688, 694 (1984)).  With regard to Petitioner’s claim that counsel “withheld 

exculpatory evidence,” Petitioner appears to assert that counsel did not sufficiently emphasize

the fact that one needs to be at least 18 years of age to use Craigslist (or the relevant section of 

Craigslist), which presumably could have had exculpatory value.  As Petitioner conceded during

his plea colloquy, the paper trail of his communications on Craigslist shows that even after the 

undercover law enforcement officer specifically represented that the purported victim’s age was 

13, Petitioner continued to interact and attempt to meet with her. In other words, regardless of 

Craigslist’s age restrictions, Petitioner admitted that the Government could prove that he knew 

he was communicating with an individual he thought was 13, and that he intended to do so.  
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Thus, even if defense counsel’s appreciation and utilization of the Craigslist age restriction were

somehow deficient, there is no reasonable probability that the end result of the proceeding would 

have been different absent this deficiency.5

Finally, Petitioner’s arguments about his offense level are unavailing.  As the 

Government explains, and the plea agreement makes clear, the parties agreed that for purposes of 

determining Petitioner’s guideline range, Petitioner would be treated as if he had been convicted 

of an additional count, namely, enticement of a minor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b).  (Plea 

Agreement ¶ 14.)6 After making various adjustments to the offense level, both upward and 

downward, the parties agreed to an offense level of 27, which, in conjunction with Petitioner’s 

5 To the extent Petitioner is suggesting that his attorney should have advised him to go to 
trial, that argument, too, would be unpersuasive.  “When a defendant alleges his counsel’s 
deficient performance led him to accept a guilty plea rather than go to trial,” we “consider 
whether the defendant was prejudiced by the ‘denial of the entire judicial proceeding … to which 
he had a right.’”  Lee v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1965 (2017) (quoting Roe v. Flores-
Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 483 (2000)).  In this context, a petitioner “can show prejudice by 
demonstrating a ‘reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded
guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.’”  Id. (quoting Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 
(1985)).  An error for purposes of this type of claim typically requires that the defendant’s 
“prospects of success” at trial have been negatively affected by the attorney’s actions or 
inactions, e.g., the attorney failed to investigate exculpatory evidence or did not move to 
suppress improper evidence. See id.  The error could also be one that affects the defendant’s 
“understanding of the consequences of pleading guilty.”  Id. at 1965, 1967 n.3. Petitioner does 
not allege any errors bearing on his understanding of the consequences of pleading guilty. In 
addition, given Petitioner’s admissions with regard to the Government’s ability to prove its case, 
we do not believe his prospects of success at trial were affected by his counsel’s alleged failures. 

6 Petitioner was charged in the original Indictment with enticement of a minor.  (ECF No. 
1.) He did not actually plead guilty to this crime. Rather, in connection with his plea, and for the 
sole purpose of calculating his base offense level and guideline range, he agreed to be treated as 
if he had been convicted of enticement.  The end result was that Petitioner received a higher 
guideline range than he would have otherwise received, but was spared from a mandatory 
minimum sentence of ten years’ imprisonment, which would have applied if he was actually 
convicted of enticement.  See infra.

Case 2:17-cr-00631-RBS   Document 69   Filed 04/10/20   Page 13 of 15



14

criminal history category of I, resulted in a guideline range of 70 to 87 months’ imprisonment.

(Id.  ¶¶ 4 & 14.)

Based on Petitioner’s and his attorney’s execution of the plea agreement, as well as 

Petitioner’s plea colloquy, there can be no doubt that defense counsel explained the terms of the

plea agreement to Petitioner, and that Petitioner understood the terms.  We fail to see how 

counsel committed any error with respect to sentencing, let alone how any such error prejudiced 

Petitioner. With regard to Petitioner’s suggestion that his attorney erred by failing to insist on an 

offense level of 24, this clearly was not an option for Petitioner. See United States v. Salmeron-

Duque, No. 10-35, 2013 WL 2390720, at *4 (W.D. Va. May 30, 2013) (rejecting defendant’s 

claim that “counsel should have procured a better plea bargain, or advised him not to accept the 

plea offer until a better deal could be made,” where defendant “[did] not allege that a better plea 

offer existed” (internal quotations and citation omitted)). Moreover, as noted above, if Petitioner

did not plead guilty under these terms, and he was ultimately convicted of enticement of a minor, 

he would have been subject to a mandatory minimum of ten years’ imprisonment.  See 18 U.S.C. 

§ 2422(b).

Petitioner has clearly failed to establish an ineffective assistance claim, or any 

miscarriage of justice, in connection with his sentencing.
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner’s Motion to Vacate/Set/Aside/Correct Sentence 

under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 will be denied.  No certificate of appealability will issue. See Fed. R. 

App. P. 22; 3d Cir. L.A.R. 22.2.7

An appropriate order follows.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ R. Barclay Surrick
R. BARCLAY SURRICK, J.

7 To obtain a certificate of appealability on a § 2255 motion, a defendant must show that 
“‘reasonable jurists could debate’” the court’s determination of his claims, or that “‘the issues 
presented were ‘adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed further.’’”  Mathias v. 
Superintendent Frackville SCI, 876 F.3d 462, 474 (3d Cir. 2017) (quoting Slack v. McDaniel,
529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000)).  Petitioner has not shown either.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
: CRIMINAL NO. 17-631

v. :
: CIVIL NO. 19-3105

TROY REESE :

ORDER

AND NOW, this 10th day of April 2020, upon consideration of Petitioner’s pro se 

Motion to Vacate/Set/Aside/Correct Sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (ECF No. 65) and the 

Government’s response thereto (ECF No. 67), it is ORDERED that the Motion is DENIED.

No certificate of appealability shall issue.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ R. Barclay Surrick
R. BARCLAY SURRICK, J.
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